71827-4

71827-4

No. 71827-4-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CITY OF BELLEVUE, a Washington municipal corporation,

> Plaintiff-Respondent, v.

PINE FOREST PROPERTIES, INC., a Washington corporation,

Defendant-Appellant

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY THE HONORABLE WILLIAM DOWNING

BRIEF OF APPELLANT PINE FOREST PROPERTIES, INC.

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Howard M. Goodfriend WSBA No. 14355 CAIRNCROSS & HEMPELMANN, P.S.

By: Stephen P. VanDerhoef WSBA No. 20088 John W. Hempelman WSBA No. 1680

1619 8th Avenue North Seattle, WA 98109 (206) 624-0974

542 2nd Avenue, Suite 500 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 587-0700



Attorneys for Appellant

I. INTRODUCTION

The trial court entered an order of public use and necessity authorizing respondent City of Bellevue to exercise the power of eminent domain over all of Pine Forest Property, Inc.'s property (the "Property") despite the fact that the City admitted it only permanently needs and will use roughly two-thirds of the Property. The City's public use of two-thirds of the Property consists of construction of a City roadway and, by agreement with Sound Transit, transfer of a portion to Sound Transit for construction of a portion of its East Link light rail system. That is not in dispute. This appeal arises from the fact that the City has no permanent use for, but has been empowered by the trial court to permanently take, the remaining one-third of the Property.

The City conceded, and the trial court found that both the City and Sound Transit will only temporarily use the remaining, southeastern one-third of the Property for construction staging for rail and roadway projects. At the conclusion of the Sound Transit and City projects, that parcel will be subject to private Transit Oriented Development ("TOD"), and is referred to as the "TOD Parcel." But based on the City's contention that unquantified "transaction costs" made the temporary acquisition of the TOD Parcel impractical, and disregarding Pine Forest's express guarantee that Pine Forest assumes the risk of any such future costs, the trial court entered an order finding that a permanent taking of the entire Property in fee is a necessary public use.

Washington's Constitution, Art. I, § 16, requires this Court to closely scrutinize the government's attempt to take private property for an asserted public use. Because no authority supports the City's permanent taking of private property for a temporary use, and eventual sale for permanent private use, Pine Forest appeals.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court erred in entering its Order Determining Public Use and Necessity, and the underscored portions of the following Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law reproduced in Appendix A: FF 8, 9, 10, 11, 15 (CP 448-48, 51); CL 11, 12, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, and 20 (CP 452-54).

2. The trial court erred in denying Pine Forest discovery to establish that the City intended a future private use of Pine Forest's TOD Parcel and to test the City's assertion that possible future transaction costs associated with extending a temporary use could justify its permanent take of TOD Parcel in fee. (CL 17, CP 453)

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Did the City satisfy its burden of justifying a permanent take of the TOD Parcel in fee when it is undisputed that neither the City nor Sound Transit will ever put the TOD Parcel to a permanent public use, Pine Forest has stipulated to the City's and Sound Transit's temporary use of the TOD parcel, and Pine Forest has guaranteed that the total lease value of the TOD Parcel, under any circumstances and over any period of time, will be 13% less than the total amount the City will spend acquiring the TOD Parcel in fee?

2. Did the trial court err in denying Pine Forest its right to conduct discovery concerning the City's allegations that additional "transaction costs" supported its decision to permanently take Pine Forest's TOD Parcel in fee?

3

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Statement of Facts.

1. The City sought to permanently take Pine Forest's 80,000 sq. ft. TOD parcel for the temporary public use of providing construction staging for Sound Transit's east link light rail and its own road extension project.

Pine Forest owns approximately 240,000 square feet of real property, including improvements, in the Bel-Red area of Bellevue (the "Property"). (CP 2, 269-70; CP 448-49, FF 9, 12) The City needs a portion of the Property to build an extension of NE 15th Street and it entered into a Memorandum of Understanding (the "MOU") with Sound Transit to aid Sound Transit's construction of its East Link light rail project. (CP 184-235) The trial court found that the MOU authorized the City "to acquire the Property for Sound Transit's use for construction staging of the East Link Project, which is expected to continue for as long as eight years or longer, and for construction of a permanent fixed guideway system." (CP 446, FF 3)

The Property sits at the crossroads of Sound Transit's and the City's transit and transportation projects. Sound Transit plans to build tracks across a portion of the Property to serve a new light rail passenger station directly east of and across 120th NE from the Property. That new station will be built within the Spring District, a private, City-approved, 5 million square foot Master Development Plan ("MDP") of mixed Transit Oriented Development ("TOD") uses that is already under construction. (CP 287) The City plans to improve transportation throughout the Bel-Red area by extending NE 15th, an east-west arterial, across the Pine Forest Property to feed directly into the Spring District development at the 120th NE intersection. (CP 288; CP 447 FF 5) The City has not finished its design of the NE 15th extension but it has confirmed the location of NE 15th's intersection with 120th NE. (CP 288; CP 447, FF 5) The City has also acknowledged the obvious need for NE 15th to be elevated across Sound Transit's tracks. (CP 313, 392-404)

Pine Forest stipulated to the existence of public use and necessity for the City's take of approximately two-thirds of the Property that will be necessary for Sound Transit's construction of its East Link Light rail and the City's extension of NE 15th. (CP CP 448, FF 7) The trial court confirmed that the City and Sound Transit had "a permanent need for approximately two-thirds of the total area of the Property, or approximately 160,000 square feet out of a total of approximately 240,000 square feet "and only a temporary need for the remaining 80,000 square feet (the TOD Parcel), for an undefined "long-term" period of time. (CP 448-49, FF 9, 10)

Pine Forest objected to the City's attempt to permanently take the TOD Parcel for construction staging for both Sound Transit's and the City's construction projects. The TOD Parcel is located west of Sound Transit's guideway right of way and south of the City's NE 15th extension. The respective locations of these two portions of the Property are reflected in the schematic attached as Appendix B. (CP 409) The topography of the Property, the necessary location of Sound Transit's future track across the western and northern portions of the Property, and the location of the City's future roadway both bisecting the Property and elevated above Sound Transit's tracks all guarantee that there will never be a permanent public use for the southeastern one-third of the Property. (CP 312-13, 342-43, 392-404) The City's own plans confirm that its use of the TOD Parcel will never be permanent. (CP 392-97) Rather, the TOD Parcel will serve only as a temporary construction and staging site while Sound Transit constructs its railway and the City constructs its roadway over those tracks before Sound Transit's rail goes "live." (CP 313)

6

2. Encouraged by the City's and Sound Transit's regulations favoring Transit Oriented Development, Pine Forest has included the TOD parcel in a TOD Master Development Plan.

Pine Forest has dedicated the TOD Parcel for development in conformity with Sound Transit's and the City's strong policies encouraging Transit Oriented Development. (CP 129-31, 287-88, 314) Under City regulations, the Spring District is identified as a Catalyst Project, a large, special project intended to lead the transformation of the City's Bel-Red Subarea from low rise light industrial and warehouse uses to a new major residential, commercial and retail mixed use, walkable urban part of the City. (CP 129-31, 287)

In reliance on the City's and Sound Transit's policies and regulations favoring Transit Oriented Development, Pine Forest has invested years of work and over a half-million dollars in submitting to the City a proposed Pine Forest TOD Master Development Plan. (CP 287, 311-12) The Pine Forest TOD Master Development Plan includes the TOD Parcel that the City wishes to take, as well as Pine Forest's adjoining property. Pine Forest has proposed a total of 1.16 million square feet of mixed commercial and residential use immediately adjacent to the Spring District. (CP 318-86) The City has engaged the public and its Staff in reviewing this project, and confirmed in May 2013 that Pine Forest's TOD Master Development Plan, which includes the 80,000 square foot TOD Parcel, is complete. (CP 387) Pine Forest's TOD Master Development Plan is the last eligible Catalyst Project in the City.

3. Sound Transit and the City, through testimony, project plans and schedules, have confirmed that the TOD Parcel will not serve any public use once Sound Transit's tracks "go live," and the TOD Parcel is no longer needed for construction staging.

The TOD Parcel will be used only temporarily for "construction staging" by both Sound Transit and the City only for "as long as eight years." (CP 130) Sound Transit has committed to opening its Spring District Station by 2022 or 2023 and so it will be done with the construction of its tracks and finished with its use of the TOD Parcel for temporary construction purposes by 2020-21. (CP 313) Because the NE 15th extension must be elevated over ST's tracks, the City must finish its construction of the NE 15th extension by 2022 or 2023, when Sound Transit trains will begin using the tracks. (CP 313) If it does not, the City's costs and project timeline will increase dramatically as it will have to work limited periods, at night, when Sound Transit trains are not using the tracks. (CP 313) Thus, although the trial court found that the City's use of the TOD Parcel may "possibly" extend to 2030, (CP 446, FF 9) in fact, the City must construct the NE 15th extension before Sound Transit begins using its tracks in 2022 or 2023 to avoid the limits and expenses of building over a "live" light rail system.

4. Contrary to the City's contentions and the trial court's findings, nothing in the MOU requires the City to permanently take the TOD Parcel.

The trial court accurately found that the MOU authorized the City "to acquire the [TOD Parcel] for Sound Transit's use for construction staging of the East Link Project, which is expected to continue for as long as eight years or longer, and for construction of a permanent fixed guideway system." (CP 446, FF 3) However, nothing in the MOU requires the City to permanently take the TOD Parcel in fee.

The MOU states only that the City must "purchase" the Pine Forest Property "prior to construction." (CP 221) The City confirmed this means only that it must "ensure the Property is vacant and deliver the Property to Sound Transit no later than June 2015." (CP 130) The City is not obligated by the MOU to acquire the entire Pine Forest Property in fee. Sound Transit confirmed in the trial court that, though there may be minor variations in its schedule, it needs the TOD Parcel only temporarily. (CP 440) The City has similarly confirmed, and the trial court found, the City needs the TOD Parcel only temporarily. (CP 132; FF 9) The City will satisfy its own and any MOU obligations by purchasing what it and Sound Transit have confirmed they need: a temporary construction easement.

5. The City's fears of future "not precisely quantifiable" costs is baseless given Pine Forest guarantee that the City will pay 13% less for a temporary take of the TOD Parcel than the City would pay if it permanently took the TOD Parcel.

As described in Pine Forest's February 18, 2014 letter to the City, Pine Forest guaranteed that the City will pay 13% less for a permanent take of the property needed for Sound Transit's and the City's rights of way and a temporary take of the TOD Parcel than it will if it takes the fee interest in the entire Pine Forest Property. (Exhibit 1) Under either the City's or Pine Forest's current valuations of the property, that represents a guaranteed savings to the City of over \$2.5 million.

The City conclusorily stated that "it has determined that it would be more cost effective to acquire the Property in fee simple," because "the possibility remains that the duration of the temporary use could be much longer" than ten years. (CP 434) The trial court did not mention Pine Forest's guarantee, instead referring only to "Pine Forest's proposal regarding how the City and Sound Transit could coordinate their projects with Pine Forest's Transit-Oriented-Development plans." (CP 448-49, FF 10) The trial court stated that the City had considered undefined and "not precisely quantifiable" "transaction costs associated with taking only a temporary interest in a portion of the Property," (CP 449, FF 11), finding that "the City reasonably determined that it would be considerably more cost effective to acquire the Property in fee simple than to agree with Pine Forest's proposal." (CP 448-49, FF 10)

B. Procedural History.

The City filed its condemnation Petition, seeking a permanent take of the entire Property, on October 18, 2013. (CP 1-96) The trial court's case schedule set a deadline for the City's filing a Notice for a public use and necessity hearing of December 2, 2013, a discovery cut off of April 28, 2014, and a trial date of June 16, 2014. (Sub. No. 2, Supp. CP ____)

The parties engaged in early mediation and, to ensure they were able to concentrate on mediation without the cost and distraction of formal litigation, they agreed to amend the case schedule twice, to extend the public use and necessity and jury demand deadlines. (CP 97- 111, CP 112- 26) The parties' early mediation attempts were not successful, and pursuant to the amended case schedule, the City filed its Motion for an Order Determining Public Use and Necessity on January 21, 2014. (CP 236-60) The trial court found that Pine Forest "has not identified material evidence that would be obtained through discovery" and denied Pine Forest the right to complete discovery that was already underway. (CP 451, FF 15; CP 453, CL 17)

After the completion of briefing, the trial court heard oral argument on March 7, 2014, and issued its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order Determining Public Use and Necessity on March 18, 2014. (CP 445-55) Pine Forest timely appealed. (Sub. No. 37, Supp. CP ____)

V. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review: Because Art. 1., §16 mandates that the issue of public use "shall be a judicial question," this Court's review is de novo.

Article I, Section 16, of the Washington Constitution expressly delegates to the judiciary the determination of whether a governmental taking is for a public use" "[W]hether the contemplated use be really public shall be a judicial question, and determined as such, without regard to any legislative assertion that the use is public." Wash. Const., Art. I, § 16. See also RCW 8.12.090 ("Whenever an attempt is made to take private property, for a use alleged to be public under authority of this chapter, the question whether the contemplated use be really public shall be a judicial question."). The burden of establishing a public use "is on the condemnor." Yakima Cnty. v. Evans, 135 Wn. App. 212, 218, 143 P.3d 891 (2006). This Court reviews as a question of law, the City's assertion that its permanent taking of Pine Forest's fee interest in the TOD parcel is for a public use. See Wallace v. Lewis Cnty., 134 Wn. App. 1, 24, 137 P.3d 101 (2006) ("Whether a government action is 'for public use' is a judicial question of law.").

By contrast, courts defer to the governmental determination of whether a particular property is necessary for a public purpose, as it is a legislative question. Thus, the government's decision to acquire a specific parcel rather than an alternative parcel is conclusive unless arbitrary, capricious or the product of actual or "constructive" fraud, which exists "if the public use was merely a pretext to effectuate a private use on the condemned lands." *State ex rel. Washington State Convention & Trade Ctr. v. Evans*, 136 Wn.2d 811, 823, 966 P.2d 1252 (1998). *See City of Blaine v.* *Feldstein*, 129 Wn. App. 73, 81, 117 P.3d 1169, 1173 (2005) (addressing "whether the City acted arbitrarily and capriciously, amounting to constructive fraud, in determining that condemning Feldstein's property was necessary.").

For purposes of appellate review of the trial court's decision, this Court should review the trial court's findings of fact supporting its order of public use and necessity de novo because it heard no live testimony and entered its findings based on a documentary record. While generally findings of fact are reviewed for substantial evidence, that rule does not apply where, as here, the trial court "relies exclusively on affidavits, declarations, and other documents." Ameriquest Mortgage Co. v. Office of Attorney Gen. of Washington, 177 Wn.2d 467, 488, 300 P.3d 799 (2013). Where, as here, "the record consists entirely of written materials and the trial court has not seen nor heard testimony requiring it to assess the credibility or competency of a witness, weigh evidence, nor reconcile conflicting evidence, then an appellate court stands in the same position as the trial court in looking at the facts of the case and should review the record de novo." Gronquist v. Dep't of Corrections, 159 Wn. App. 576, 590, ¶ 29, 247 P.3d 436 (citing Progressive Animal Welfare Soc. v. University of Washington, 125

Wn.2d 243, 252, 884 P.2d 592 (1994)), rev. denied, 171 Wn.2d 1023 (2011).

B. The City's attempt to permanently take the TOD Parcel is neither a public use nor is it necessary.

The City failed in its the burden of demonstrating both that the condemnation of the TOD Parcel is for a public use and that it is necessary for that public use. *See State ex rel. Sternoff v. Superior Court for King County*, 52 Wn.2d 282, 325 P.2d 300 (1958). Washington's constitutional takings clause, Art. I § 16, is interpreted much more narrowly than its federal counterpart, requiring this Court to resolve as a "judicial question" the City's assertion that it must permanently take the TOD Parcel for a public use. *Manufactured Housing Communities of Washington v. State*, 142 Wn.2d 347, 359, 13 P.3d 183 (2000). A "public use" must be "either a use by the public, or by some agency which is quasi-public, and not simply a use which may incidentally or indirectly promote the public interest or general prosperity of the state." *Healy Lumber Co. v. Morris*, 33 Wash. 490, 509, 74 Pac. 681 (1903).

Courts review the government's declaration of necessity under a more deferential arbitrary and capricious standard. *City of Des Moines v. Hemenway*, 73 Wn.2d 130, 139, 437 P.2d 171 (1968) (citing *City of Tacoma v. Welcker*, 65 Wn.2d 677, 399 P.2d 330 (1965). Here the trial court erred in relying on the self-evident proposition that "public transportation is a public use justifying condemnation" and the City's unfounded financial concerns to authorize the condemnation of property in fee that will be put to public use only temporarily. Because there will never be a *permanent* public use, the TOD Parcel must be sold by the City for private development in the near future, when its temporary use of the property ceases. Even if *temporary* public use of the property supports condemnation, the trial court's finding that a *permanent* take of the TOD parcel is necessary was supported only by conclusory statements, which were refuted by uncontradicted evidence, and is therefore, by definition, arbitrary and capricious, or as the cases define the term, the result of "constructive fraud." This Court should reverse.

1. The City's permanent take of a temporary construction easement is not a public use.

It is undisputed that the City is not acquiring the TOD Parcel for any permanent public use. NE 15th must be elevated over Sound Transit's tracks. Although the TOD Parcel will be used by both Sound Transit and the City for construction and construction staging, no permanent public use will or can be made of the TOD Parcel. The trial court lacked a factual basis to authorize a permanent taking of the TOD Parcel. This Court should hold that the City has failed to satisfy its burden of establishing a public use.

The court's non-deferential determination of public use is defined by our state constitution:

Whenever an attempt is made to take private property for a use alleged to be public, the question whether the contemplated use be really public shall be a judicial question, and determined as such, without regard to any legislative assertion that the use is public.

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