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

IV. ARGUMENT 

A. Standard of Review 

To grant a motion for public use and necessity, a trial court need 

only conclude that: (1) the proposed use is a public use; (2) the interest of 

the general public requires the use; and (3) the property at issue is 

necessary to facilitate the public use. See RCW 8.12.090; City of Blaine v. 

Feldstein, 129 Wn. App. 73, 78, 117 P.3d 1169 (2005) (citing City of Des 

Moines v. Hemenway, 73 Wn.2d 130,437 P.2d 171 (1968)). 

The first question (public use) is a judicial determination. See 

Const. art. I, § 16; RCW 8.12.090; PUD v. NAFTZI, 159 Wn.2d at 573. 

The second question, public interest, is related to and overlaps with the 

third question, public necessity, and thus, these determinations typically 
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are made together. Hallauer v. Spectrum Props., Inc., 143 Wn.2d 126, 

132, 138, 18 P.3d 540 (2001) (citing In re City of Seattle , 104 Wn.2d 621, 

623, 707 P.2d 1348 (1985)). The second and third questions are 

legislative determinations, meaning that courts defer to the condemnor's 

determination of public interest and necessity absent proof of actual fraud 

or such arbitrary and capricious actions as amount to constructive fraud. 

See PUD v. NAFTZI, 159 Wn.2d at 575-76; Cent. Puget Sound Reg 'I 

Transit Auth. v. Miller ("Miller"), 156 Wn.2d 403, 411, 128 P.3d 588 

(2006) (citing City of Des Moines, 73 Wn.2d at 139). "[Pine Forest] bears 

the burden of showing actual or constructive fraud by the City." City of 

Blaine, 129 Wn. App. at 81 (citing City of Tacoma v. Welcker, 65 Wn.2d 

677,684,399 P.2d 330 (1965)). On appeal, this Court reviews whether 

the trial court "abuse[ d] its discretion in finding that substantial evidence 

supported a determination of public use and necessity." PUD v. NAFTZI, 

159 Wn.2d at 578.8 

8 Pine Forest urges the Court to conduct a de novo review on appeal, 
but the authorities it cites for this proposition are all cases arising from 
show cause hearings under the Public Records Act, ch. 42.56 RCW, rather 
than eminent domain proceedings. Pine Forest Op. Br. at 14 (citing 
Ameriquest Mortgage Co. v. Office of Attorney Gen. , 177 Wn.2d 467,300 
P.3d 799 (2013); Gronquist v. Dep 't ofCorr. , 159 Wn. App. 576, 590, 247 
P.3d 436, 443 (2011)). Nor is this Court's review more deferential 
because the trial court relied on declarations and other documents. See 
Pub. Uti!. Dist. No. 2 of Grant Cnty., Washington v. N. Am. Foreign Trade 
Zone Indus. , LLC, 125 Wn. App. 622, 628,105 P.3d 441 (2005) (trial 
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In this case, the trial court correctly ruled that the City may acquire 

the Property because the Property is necessary to support multiple, valid 

public uses. 

B. The City Is Acquiring the Property for Valid Public Uses. 

Pine Forest first attempts to argue that the City has failed to 

establish a valid public use to acquire the Property. But construction of 

either public transit or roads is a valid public use. Miller, 156 Wn.2d at 

411 n.2 (noting that "the condemnation of private property for public 

transportation is within the state's eminent domain power and almost 

categorically a public use") (citing State ex reI. Devonshire v. Super. Ct. 

for King Cnty., 70 Wn.2d 630, 636-37, 424 P.2d 913 (1967) (holding that 

condemnation of private property for 1962 Exposition Monorail is a public 

use) (citation omitted)); RCW 8.12.030 (authorizing road construction as a 

public use); State v. Belmont Imp. Co., 80 Wn.2d 438, 443, 495 P.2d 635 

(1972) (same). Certainly both transportation projects when considered 

together support the exercise of eminent domain. In fact, Pine Forest 

conceded as much below with respect to the bulk of the Property. CP 305 

(~ 5). 

court in PUD v. NAFTZI relied on declarations), aff'd, PUD v. NAFTZI, 
159 Wn.2d 655. 
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Pine Forest nonetheless incorrectly attempts to cast the amount of 

property taken as a question of public use, rather than one of necessity. 

See Pine Forest Op. Br. at 16. Thus, although Pine Forest does not dispute 

that the entire Property will be put to a public use at least during the 

protracted construction of the East Link Project and Bel-Red 

Transportation Improvements, Pine Forest erroneously argues that this 

Court should review the City'S decision to take a fee interest in the 

Property under the first prong of the test for "public use," rather than the 

more deferential "necessity" prong. 

The Washington Supreme Court already has rejected the idea that 

the amount of property taken should be addressed under the public use 

prong. See HTK Mgmt., L.L.C v. Seattle Popular Monorail Auth. 

("Seattle Monorail"), 155 Wn.2d 612,634,121 P.3d 1166 (2005); see also 

PUD v. NAFTZI, 159 Wn.2d at 575-76 (claims that excess property has 

been taken are addressed under the necessity prong). 

In Seattle Monorail, the agency needed an entire parcel for five to 

ten years during construction of a monorail station on the property but had 

not identified a permanent public use for a substantial portion of the 

property. 155 Wn.2d at 633. The Court held the agency's decision to 

condemn a fee interest was a legislative determination subject to the 

deferential test for "necessity." Id. at 634-35. 
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The Seattle Monorail Court expressly distinguished State ex rei. 

Wash. State Convention & Trade Ctr. v. Evans ("Convention Ctr. "), 136 

Wn.2d 811, 966 P.2d 1252 (1998), where "a significant part was never 

going to be put to a public use." Seattle Monorail, 155 Wn.2d at 633 

(emphasis in original). There, the agency planned to sell three stories of 

the proposed four-story expansion to a private developer. The Court 

affirmed the agency's public use determination because the private use 

was incidental to the public use. Convention Ctr., 126 Wn.2d at 822-23. 

Not surprisingly, Pine Forest fails to identify any case where the 

condemning authority's determination ofthe particular land interests 

required for the contemplated project was reviewed under the public use 

prong. For example, in City of Tacoma v. Humble Oil & Ref Co., 57 

Wn.2d 257, 258, 356 P.2d 586 (1960) (quoted in Pine Forest Op. Br. at 

19), the Supreme Court rejected a land owner's challenge to the city's 

determination to take fee simple title to land, rather than allowing the 

owner to retain mineral rights, under the deferential necessity prong. See 

also State ex reI. Tacoma Sch. Dist. No.1 0, Pierce Cnty. v. Stojack, 53 

Wn.2d 55, 64, 330 P.2d 567 (1958) ("selection of land to be condemned 

by the proper public agency is conclusive" absent actual or constructive 

fraud); City of Pullman, Whitman Cnty. v. Glover, 73 Wn.2d 592, 595, 439 

P.2d 975 (1968) (deferring to City's "administrative decision" that "its 
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public purpose will be best served by taking the described property subject 

to the existing lease in favor of the United States"); Neitzel v. Spokane 

Int 'I Ry. Co., 65 Wash. 100, 105, 117 P. 864 (1911) (holding that the 

legislature did not authorize railroad company to condemn fee simple 

interest); State v. Larson, 54 Wn.2d 86, 89, 338 P.2d 135 (1959) 

(affirming condemnor's determination of the extent of land interests 

"reasonably necessary to accomplish the public use or necessity"); State ex 

reI. Eastvold v. Superior Court for Snohomish Cnty., 48 Wn.2d 417, 421, 

294 P.2d 418 (1956) (same); City of Seattle v. Faussett, 123 Wash. 613, 

619,212 P. 1085 (1923) (same). 

In sum, there is no legal basis to review the amount of property 

taken under the public use prong. The City has identified valid and 

undisputed public uses supporting acquisition of the Property. Pine 

Forest's argument raises solely the question of necessity for the City to 

acquire a fee interest. 

C. The City's Determination that the Property in Fee Is 
Necessary for the Public Projects Is Conclusive Because 
There Is No Evidence of Actual or Constructive Fraud. 

Because the question of the amount of property to be taken is one 

of necessity, the decision of the City on this point is conclusive absent a 

showing by Pine Forest of actual or constructive fraud. E.g., Lane v. Port 

of Seattle , 178 Wn. App. 110, 126, 316 P .3d 1070 (2013 ) (citing P UD v. 
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NAFTZI, 159 Wn.2d at 575-76 (quoting Seattle Monorail, 155 Wn.2d at 

629)), review denied, 180 Wn.2d 1004,321 P.3d 1207 (2014); see also In 

re City of Lynnwood, 118 Wn. App. 674, 687, 77 P.3d 378 (2003). Pine 

Forest claims that this test applies only to the choice of location of the 

property to be condemned, but cites no authority in support of that 

premise. Pine Forest Op. Br. at 24. Nor is the premise supportable 

because the necessity analysis squarely applies to claims that excess 

property is being taken, the exact issue in this case. PUD v. NAFTZI, 159 

Wn.2d at 576. 

As an initial matter, Pine Forest conceded on the record at the 

hearing on public use and necessity that it was not even alleging actual or 

constructive fraud . VRP, March 7, 2014, at 15:16-21 ("Pine Forest is not 

alleging fraud .... we could talk about constructive fraud, but we're not 

even going that far. ") (emphasis added). Under the precedent of this Court 

and the Washington Supreme Court, Pine Forest's concession is 

dispositive of any challenge under the necessity prong and standing alone 

is sufficient to affirm the trial court.9 

Pine Forest ' s concession aside, however, the requirement of 

necessity is easily established here. A condemnor does not need to have 

9 In direct contrast to its concession at the trial court, Pine Forest now 
tries to argue the presence of constructive fraud on appeal. See Pine 
Forest Op. Br. at 16. 
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"a public use planned for the property forever." Seattle Monorail, 155 

Wn.2d at 620 (emphasis in original); PUD v. NAFTZI, 159 Wn.2d at 575. 

Thus, in Seattle Monorail, the Court held that a long-term need for an 

entire parcel during construction of a permanent public facility covering 

only a portion of that land is "of an intensity and duration to justify the 

taking of the fee interest." 155 Wn.2d at 636. Contrary to Pine Forest's 

suggestion, the agency in that case conceded that it "currently ha[ d] no 

planned use for any portion of the property that may remain uncovered by 

the final station design" and explained (as the City does here) "that it 

would be premature to make definitive plans for the property that may 

possibly fall outside of the footprint." 155 Wn.2d at 620; see also 

CP 432-34 (~~ 17-19). The Court agreed it was proper to defer to the 

agency's determination that a fee take was necessary. Seattle Monorail, 

155 Wn.2d at 634-35. 

Pine Forest mischaracterizes the factual record in Seattle Monorail, 

as well as the Court's conclusions regarding the necessity prong. The 

Court did not conduct the searching inquiry suggested by Pine Forest's 

fragmented out-of-context quotes. See Pine Forest Op. Br. at 21-22. To 

the contrary, the Court expressly refused "to undertake a searching judicial 

review of the necessity of [the agency's] determination to condemn a fee 

interest" simply because (as the agency conceded) the agency did not have 
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a permanent planned use for a portion of the parcel. Seattle Monorail, 155 

Wn.2d at 633-34. 

This Court similarly should defer to the City Council's reasonable 

legislative determination that a fee interest is necessary and in the public's 

best interest for the East Link Project and Bel-Red Transportation 

Improvements. CP 266-70 (Ord. No. 6122), CP 432-34 (~~ 17-21). Here, 

similar to Seattle Monorail, the City has an undisputed need to take a 

permanent interest in approximately two-thirds of the Property, and Sound 

Transit and the City have a long-term need to use the remainder of the 

Property through 2030 or beyond. CP 429-30 (~ 11). Sound Transit and 

the City have yet to make certain budgeting, design, and coordination 

decisions that could extend the construction timeframe and shift or 

increase the size of the permanent public facilities that will be built on the 

Property. CP 430-31 (~13). Under these circumstances, a fee simple 

acquisition minimizes complications, and the potential for additional 

escalating costs, for both public projects. CP 432 (~ 17). 

Tellingly, Pine Forest identifies only one case rejecting a 

condemnor's necessity determination. 10 See Pine Forest Op. Br. at 25 

lOIn all of the other authority relied on by Pine Forest in support of its 
necessity challenge, Pine Forest Op. Br. at 26-28, the court affirmed the 
condemnor's finding of public necessity. See, e.g., Convention Ctr., 136 
Wn.2d at 824; City o/Tacoma v. Welcker, 65 Wn.2d 677, 686, 399 P.2d 
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(citing Port of Everett v. Everett Improvement Co., 124 Wash. 486, 494, 

214 P. 1064 (1923)); see also Miller, 156 Wn.2d at 412 ("Seldom has [our 

Supreme Court] held that a condemning authority has abused its trust in 

making a declaration of public necessity. This should not be surprising, 

for it is not to be presumed that such abuses often occur.") (internal 

citation omitted)). In that one case, the condemnor had literally "no map, 

plan, specification or detailed description ofthe work intended to be 

constructed[.]" Port of Everett, 124 Wash. at 492. The Court concluded 

the necessity prong was not satisfied where the Port of Everett determined 

that it did not need the property it was seeking to condemn at the time but 

that it may need the property in the future. !d. at 494. But "nothing in 

Port of Everett requires ... a definitive use plan for the entire life of the 

property[.]" Seattle Monorail, 155 Wn.2d at 638 n.21. 

The trial court correctly concluded that the current case presents 

the opposite situation as Port of Everett, because the City undeniably 

needs all of the Property now and for a substantial duration, even though it 

may not need a portion of the Property at an undetermined future date. CP 

330 (1965) (trial court erred in concluding condemnor's necessity 
determination was arbitrary and capricious); see also Yakima Cnty. v. 
Evans, 135 Wn. App. 212, 218, 143 P.3d 891 (2006); City of Blaine v. 
Feldstein, 129 Wn. App. 73, 81-83, 117 P.3d 1169 (2005); City of Des 
Moines v. Hemenway, 73 Wn.2d 130, 139-41,437 P.2d 171 (1968); State 
ex rei. Tacoma Sch. Dist. No. 1 0, Pierce Cnty. v. Stojack, 53 Wn.2d 55, 
64-65, 330 P.2d 567 (1958). 
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452 (COL ~ 11). Significant planning, budgeting, and coordination issues 

also prevent the City from taking only a temporary interest in that portion 

of the Property. CP 429-32 (FOF ~~ 11-13, 17). For example, the trial 

court found that Pine Forest's proposal to coordinate its private 

development project with the public infrastructure projects included 

"significant limitations" on the duration of use of the Property and would 

have required the City to agree to "separate compensation" for the 

permanent and long-term use areas "before design decisions defining 

those areas have been made." CP 448-49 (FOF ~ 10). Further, as the trial 

court explained, "the City reasonably determined that it would be 

considerably more cost effective to acquire the Property in fee simple[.]" 

CP 449 (FOF ~ 11). 

Pine Forest vaguely purported to guarantee "millions of dollars" in 

savings if the City agrees to a partial take, but those promises proved 

illusory and contrary to the City'S own financial analysis. See CP 433-34 

(~~ 19-20). Pine Forest's "guarantee" argument also rests on a two-page 

settlement letter not provided to the Court until the day of the public use 

and necessity hearing. CP _ (Ex. 1 ).11 The letter did not guarantee 

millions of dollars in savings-it did not even guarantee that Pine Forest 

II For that reason, and because it would be contrary to ER 408, none of 
the City's settlement correspondence addressing this proposal is included 
in the record. 
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would proceed with its proposed development project. CP 428 (~ 7), 

CP 314 (~ 10). The letter merely suggested that the City would pay less 

money for a lesser property interest, which is no savings at all. See 

CP 433-34 (~19). And even that amount was uncertain, since the 

proposal was based on an inflated fee value proposed by Pine Forest. Id. 12 

The letter also failed to address other key questions such as how to 

reconcile Pine Forest's inability to presently and definitively commit to its 

development project with the City's need to proceed now with the 

acquisition of the Property as currently framed; how transaction costs and 

other issues identified in the record would be addressed; how liability 

issues associated with co-development projects would be addressed; who 

exactly is making the "guarantee," from what amount, with what means of 

enforcement, and with what, if any, collateral; and how the guarantee 

would be enforced. See generally CP 432-35. 

In arguing its "guarantee" on appeal, Pine Forest also reverses the 

burden of proof, suggesting that the City was required to prove that Pine 

Forest's proposal was unworkable. Compare Pine Forest Op. Br. at 26,

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